DOCKET NO. 2008-CP-00229-COA

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPCOPY

လ လ လ လ လ လ လ လ လ လ လ လ

JESSIE JAMES DAVIS

APPELLANT

VS.

ť.,

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

FILED

AUG 2 5 2008 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIFTH CIRCUIT COURT DISTRICT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

Jessie James Davis DCF, #L6579 3800 County Road 540 Greenwood, MS 38930

Appellant Pro Se

DOCKET NO. 2008-CP-00229-COA

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI SESSIE JAMES DAVIS APPELLANT S APPELLANT S STATE OF MISSISSIPPI APPELLEE S ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF GRENADA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI FIFTH CIRCUIT COURT DISTRICT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES		

ISSUE I

Appellant was sentenced to an illegal and excessive sentence where the

offenses set forth in the indictment allows a maximum sentence of five (5) years.

Such actions violated the Petitioner's right to due process of the law as guaranteed

by the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and

constitute plain error. Appellant moves for an evidentiary hearing on these

matters.

č

ISSUE II

Whether trial court erred in summarily dismissing the claims without requiring the State of Mississippi to file an answer to the PCR motion.

ISSUE III

Whether trial court erred in failing to conduct an evidentiary hearing on the PCR motion.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated within the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections and assigned to the Delta Correctional Facility in Greenwood, Mississippi.

STATEMENT OF CASE

In order to succeed in a post-conviction motion under Mississippi law, a Appellant must show that the adjudication of a claim in a Mississippi Court resulted in a conviction or sentence that was obtained in violation of the Constitution or laws of the United States. Miss. Code §99-39-1, *et seq.* The Constitution, as the framework from which all Federal law springs, must not be violated as applied to the Appellant. The trial court, in failing to require an answer or to conduct a hearing before denying relief on the well pleaded claims presented in the PCR has denied Appellant due process of law. The trial court's summary dismissal order fail to fully consider and determine the claims. Where the indictment placed Appellant on notice that he was charged under Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 97-3-65(3)(a, Appellant could not have pleaded guilty under Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 97-3-65(4)(a) as the trial court would find. The decision cited by the trial court, <u>Purnell v. State</u>, 878 So.2d 124 (Miss. App. 2004) provide that the indictment is the instrument which alerts the defendant of the charges filed against him. The contents of the indictment should be strictly read. <u>Hailey v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 411 (Miss. 1988) There should be no practice to read between lines of the indictment. If the contents of the indictment makes out two different charges then the lesser should be applied. <u>Hailey v. State</u>, 537 So.2d 411 (Miss. 1988) The trial court should have followed this practice and requirement.

It is from this action which Appellant now appeals to this Court.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v.</u> <u>State</u>, 728 So. 2d 565, 567 (miss. 1999).

In the instant case well-settled law demonstrates that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous since the trial court failed to recognize the plain statute set forth in the indictment and failed to conduct a hearing to permit

5

Appellant the opportunity to plead his case before the Court before being summarily dismissed.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Appellant was indicted during the July Term, 2001 of the Grenada County, Mississippi, grand jury for the offense of kidnapping, MCA 97-3-53 and Attempted Rape, MCA 97-1-7¹ and MCA 97-3-65(3)(a)².

The Appellant was a first offender without any prior arrest or conviction.

The Appellant subsequently entered a plea of guilty to the offense set forth under Count II of the indictment rape and was sentenced to a term of 10 years to be suspended to a term of 5 years probation.

¹ Miss. Code Ann. § 97-1-7. Attempt to commit offense; punishment.

Every person who shall design and endeavor to commit an offense, and shall do any overt act toward the commission thereof, but shall fail therein, or shall be prevented from committing the same, on conviction thereof, shall, where no provision is made by law for the punishment of such offense, be punished as follows: If the offense attempted to be committed be capital, such offense shall be punished by imprisonment in the penitentiary not exceeding ten years; if the offense attempted be punishable by imprisonment in the penitentiary, or by fine and imprisonment in the county jail, then the attempt to commit such offense shall be punished for a period or for an amount not greater than is prescribed for the actual commission of the offense so attempted.

² Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65(3)(a)

(3) Upon conviction for statutory rape, the defendant shall be sentenced as follows:

(a) If eighteen (18) years of age or older, but under twenty-one (21) years of age, and convicted under paragraph (1)(a) of this section, to imprisonment for not more than five (5) years in the State Penitentiary or a fine of not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), or both;

The Appellant's probation was subsequently revoked which resulted in Appellant being committed to the Mississippi Department of Corrections for a period of 10 year.

The law is clear that both statutes set forth by the state in the indictment and under Count II, in combination, allows a maximum sentence of 5 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. Miss . Code Ann. § 97-1-7 Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-65(3)(a).

Sentencing occurred in Grenada County, Mississippi, on July 10, 2003.

The Appellant has taken no further legal action in this case.

During pre-trial, and at sentencing, the Appellant was represented by

Honorable Leon Johnson of Grenada, Mississippi.

The Appellant subsequently filed PCR in the trial Court where he submitted that his imprisonment was unlawful and argued that:

I. The claim presented by the motion for PCR adequately set forth grounds of cause and prejudice for failing to raise these claims at trial or on direct appeal.

II. Appellant's sentence should be vacated on ground that Appellant was denied due process of law and in having been illegally and excessively sentenced in violation of. Code Ann. § 97-1-7 Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65(3)(a).

III. Appellant asserted that where there is an illegal sentence that no time bar or other restraint which would prohibit a collateral attack upon such

7

sentence would not apply. <u>Luckett v. State</u>, 582 So.2d 428, 430 (Miss. 1991).

The trial court subsequently dismissed the appeal with a hearing or requiring the state to file an answer to the motion.

ARGUMENT

The law is clear that in order to succeed in a post-conviction motion under Mississippi law, a Appellant must show that the adjudication of a claim in a Mississippi Court resulted in a conviction or sentence that was obtained in violation of the Constitution or laws of the United States. Miss. Code §99-39-1, *et seq.* The Constitution, as the framework from which all Federal law springs, must not be violated as applied to the Appellant.

ISSUE I.

THE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ADEQUATELY SET FORTH GROUNDS OF CAUSE AND PREJUDICE FOR FAILING TO RAISE THESE CLAIMS AT TRIAL OR ON DIRECT APPEAL.

The purpose of a post-conviction proceeding is to bring to the trial court's attention material facts not known at the time of judgment. <u>Foster v. State</u>, 687 So.2d 1124 (Miss. 1996), cert. denied, 521 U.S. 1108 117 S.Ct. 2488 (1997). Other issues which were either presented through direct appeal or at trial may be procedurally barred in a motion for post-conviction relief. In the instant matter, the Petitioner's claims rest upon facts within the record as well as facts outside the

record, making their inclusion in any trial or appellate action improper. Appellant's conviction, sentence, revocation of probation, and denial of earned time and early release on such sentence was based upon a plea of guilty and without a trial or appeal.

Mississippi Code Ann. §99-39-7 (2001) provides that a petition for post-conviction relief is a motion in the original cause, except where the conviction and sentence have been appealed to the Supreme Court of Mississippi and there affirmed or the appeal dismissed. Mississippi has a three year time limitation on filing for post-conviction relief. This petition is properly before the court as the issues presented have not previously been raised at trial or in any appeal and have resulted in the deprivation of the Petitioner's constitutional rights. This petition was timely filed in that the claim could be procedurally barred. The trial court recognized this law and did not dismiss or deny the motion on the basis of any procedural bar. The Court therefore recognized that "[e]rrors affecting fundamental constitutional rights may be excepted from procedural bars which would otherwise prohibit their consideration. "Fuselier v. State, 654 So.2d 519, 522 (Miss. 1995) (citing Smith v. State, 477 So.2d 191, 195-96 (Miss. 1985).

However, prejudice only resulted after the time the revocation of the probation and imposition of the confinement. Appellant had no standing to commence a challenge to the conviction as long as he was not being held in physical custody in regards to the conviction and sentence under attack. Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-5(1). Thus, ever were this claim not allowed under the illegal sentence provisions, any time which Appellant spent on release, following the conviction and imposition of the probation, was equitably tolled by the law which deprived Appellant of standing to challenge the conviction and sentence since there was no "in custody" requirement to be met at that time. The Appellant sought to have the sentence vacated and/or set aside due to errors of constitutional magnitude occurring during his plea negotiations, plea hearing, and sentencing. These errors in sentencing constitute constitutional plain error. As indicated herein, both cause and prejudice are present in this case justifying that the issues be decided upon their merits.

ISSUE II

Whether trial court erred in summarily dismissing the claims without requiring the State of Mississippi to file an answer to the PCR motion.

Appellant would assert that the trial court erred in summarily dismissing the PCR without requiring the state to file an answer to the motion and without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

Mississippi Code Annotated section 99-39-11(2) (Rev. 2000) provides: "If it plainly appears from the face of the motion, any annexed exhibits and the prior proceedings in the case that the movant is not entitled to any relief, the judge may make an order for its dismissal and cause the prisoner to be notified." The decision to deny an evidentiary hearing is a matter within the sound discretion of the trial court. <u>Stovall v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 1019, 1021 (¶ 8) (Miss.Ct.App. 2000). ¶ 6. The trial court never stated in it's order why this discretionary hearing was not conducted and why the court decided to determine the claims without allowing Davis a day in court to make his case. This Court should find that such an action amounts to an abuse of discretion and an evidentiary hearing should have been conducted before the court construed the facts of the motion and law against Appellant when it could have went either way. <u>Fower v. State</u>, 981 So.2d 1061 (Miss.App. 2008)

ISSUE III

THE APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THESE MATTERS.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held "a post-conviction collateral relief petition which meets basic requirements sufficient to mandate an evidentiary hearing unless it appears beyond a doubt that the Appellant can prove no set of facts in support of his claim which would entitle him to relief." <u>Marshall v. State</u>, 680 So.2d 794, 794 (Miss. 1996).

In the instant case, the Appellant asserted that he was deprived of due process of law where: 1) Appellant was convicted of attempted rape under the

provisions of Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 97-3-65(3)(a) and sentenced to a term which is double the amount allowed by law under such statute.³

As a matter of law, the facts, as claimed by the Appellant, are correct and true under the clear contents of the record. There can be little doubt that Appellant was entitled to relief in this matter. Therefore, the Appellant would assert to this Court that the trial court erred in failing to grant relief and in summarily denting the motion without an evidentiary hearing or requiring the state to file an answer.

CONCLUSION

Appellant Davis respectfully submits that based on the authorities cited herein and in support of his brief, that this Court should vacate the decision rendered by the Circuit Court and should remand this case to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing. Moreover, this Court should find that the record and evidence in the case demonstrated that Jessie James Davis was entitled to relief.

³ Miss. Code Ann. § 97-1-7. Attempt to commit offense; punishment.

Every person who shall design and endeavor to commit an offense, and shall do any overt act toward the commission thereof, but shall fail therein, or shall be prevented from committing the same, on conviction thereof, shall, where no provision is made by law for the punishment of such offense, be punished as follows: If the offense attempted to be committed be capital, such offense shall be punished by imprisonment in the penitentiary not exceeding ten years; if the offense attempted be punishable by imprisonment in the penitentiary, or by fine and imprisonment in the county jail, then the attempt to commit such offense shall be punished for a period or for an amount not greater than is prescribed for the actual commission of the offense so attempted.

Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65(3)(a)

⁽³⁾ Upon conviction for statutory rape, the defendant shall be sentenced as follows:

⁽a) If eighteen (18) years of age or older, but under twenty-one (21) years of age, and convicted under paragraph (1)(a) of this section, to imprisonment for not more than five (5) years in the State Penitentiary or a fine of not more than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), or both;

Additionally, Jessie James Davis would argue that the trial judge's order was clearly erroneous in failing to adhere to the law when the Judge recognized that the indictment did charge Appellant under Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 97-3-65(3)(a) but asserted that to be a mistake and that Miss. Code Ann. Sec. 97-3-65(4)(a) was appropriate. The trial court should not have been allowed to amend and substitute the indictment after the sentencing and after the motion had been filed by Appellant.