IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JESSIE JAMES DAVIS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CP-0229-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LA DONNA C. HOLLAND
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. DAVIS'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.
- II. DAVIS IS NOT SERVING AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISPOSED OF DAVIS'S CLAIM SUMMARILY AND WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING WHERE THE BASIS OF DAVIS'S CLAIM INVOLVED NOTHING MORE THAN A SCRIVENER'S ERROR.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 6, 2001, Davis was indicted for kidnaping and attempted rape. On July 10, 2003, Davis pled guilty to attempted rape. C.P. 10. He was sentenced to ten years with 9 years and 265 days suspended and a mere 100 days to serve. C.P. 23. Davis subsequently violated the terms of probation and was ordered to serve the previously suspended 9 years and 265 days. C.P. 39. Davis filed a motion for post-conviction relief in the trial court on October 11, 2007. C.P. 9. The trial court summarily denied the petition.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Davis's motion for post-conviction relief is procedurally barred as it was filed more than three years after the entry of his guilty plea. Davis's claim that he is serving an illegal sentence would overcome the procedural bar, if the claim had merit. It does not. Davis's claim is based on a scrivener's error. He is not serving an illegal sentence for attempted rape, because that crime carries a maximum of ten years imprisonment, which is the sentence he received.

ARGUMENT

I. DAVIS'S MOTION FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Davis's motion for post-conviction relief is procedurally barred since it was filed more than three years after the entry of his guilty plea. Miss. Code Ann. 99-39-5(2). Davis claims that he is serving an illegal sentence. If true, that claim would overcome the applicable time bar. However, as explained in the following issue, Davis's illegal sentence claim is wholly without merit. As such, he has failed to overcome the procedural bar.

II. DAVIS IS NOT SERVING AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE.

Davis was indicted for attempted rape. The heading of the indictment read, "ATTEMPTED RAPE MCA § 97-1-7 and § 97-3-65(3)(a)." C.P. 10. The correct subsection for rape, however, is 97-3-65(4)(a). Subsection 3(a) actually prescribes the sentence for statutory rape where the defendant is between the ages of 18 and 21 and the victim is 14 or 15 years old. Miss. Code Ann. § 97-3-65(3)(a). The language in the indictment clearly put Davis on notice that he was indicted for attempted rape. C.P. 10. The indictment in pertinent part stated,

Jessie James Davis . . . did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously, forcibly against her will, attempt to have sexual intercourse with Betty Henry, a female person by forcibly removing her from her automobile, carrying her into his apartment, throwing her onto a couch, pulling her pants down and attempting to remove her underwear, pulling his own pants down, getting on top of her and telling her that he was "going to get his nuts," but the said Jesse James Davis failed in his attempt to rape the said Betty Henry because she fought, screamed and struggled against the said Jesse James Davis and broke free from him and ran out of the apartment to her car and got away

C.P. 10-11. The State articulated the same facts during the guilty plea hearing. C.P. 21.

The supreme court has stated, "when dealing with indictments, [] we employ a rule of substance over form." *Golden v. State*, 968 So.2d 378, 386 (¶28) (Miss. 2007). Here it is clear that Davis was indicted for and pled guilty to attempted rape. The apparent scrivener's error refers to the sentence for statutory rape where the defendant is between the ages of 18 and 21 and the victim is 14 or 15 years. Obviously Davis could not be indicted for the violation of a statute which contains only a sentence rather than a crime. It should be noted that the variety of rape which Davis attempted to commit was previously located in subsection (3)(a) prior to 2003, then moved to its current location under subsection (4)(a). See Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-65 (Rev. 2002). In any event, Davis was clearly on notice that he was indicted for attempted rape.

Attempted rape carries a maximum of ten years since rape is a capital offense. Miss. Code

Ann. §97-1-7. Davis was sentenced to ten years, so he cannot be serving an illegal sentence.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISPOSED OF DAVIS'S CLAIM SUMMARILY AND WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING WHERE THE BASIS OF DAVIS'S CLAIM INVOLVED NOTHING MORE THAN A SCRIVENER'S ERROR.¹

Where a petitioner can prove no set of facts which would entitle him to the relief he seeks, the trial court may summarily dismiss the motion of post-conviction relief without an evidentiary hearing. *Davis v. State*, 973 So.2d 1040, 1044 (¶12) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). Because the sole basis for Davis's claim that he was entitled to relief was based on a scrivener's error, there is no set of facts that would entitle him to relief. As such, the trial court properly denied the motion without an evidentiary hearing.

¹The State addresses Davis's second and third assignments of error as one, since they are the same issue simply reworded.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the State asks this honorable Court to affirm the trial court's denail of post-conviction relief.